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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

SHEILA HUNNELL-VILLINES, )
Plaintiff, g
V. ; Case No. 19-2581-CM-JPO
HARTFORD LIFE AND ACCIDENT ;
INSURANCE COMPANY, )
Defendant. §

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter is before the court on the motionligmiss brought by defendant Hartford Life apd
Accident Insurance Company. (Doc. 21.) Defendasks the dismissal of Counts II, Ill, IV and V |of
plaintiff Sheila Hunnell-Villines’s five-count complainDoc. 1-1.) Plaintiff’'s complaint stems from
defendant’s discontinuation of hentp-term disability benefits, as well as defendant’s efforts to
recoup a portion of the benefits it paid to pldfrtihich were subsequenttjuplicated when plaintiff
received her Social Security Dishiyi benefits award (“SSDI”). Platiff filed her complaint in state
court and it was removed by defendant to thistgqursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, due to plaintiff's
inclusion of one count sounding irdieral law; that is, Count V, whicalleges that defendant violated
the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCBA15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., when it attempted to
recover monies from plaintiff. (Doc. 1.)

Background
Plaintiff worked at the Universitf Kansas Hospital Medical Authority as a payroll
manager from 2003 to April 2016, when she stoppedkiwg due to her disailnlg medical conditions

including “lumbar radiculopathy, rhenatoid arthritis, degeneratiyeint disease, @intar fasciitis,
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fiboromyalgia, polyarthralgia, otaterosis, chronic pain, irritablbowel syndrome, memory loss,
cognitive decline, brain fog, headaches, vertigo, asdnmia.” (Doc. 1-1 at { 24.) After an initial
denial, defendant approved plaifii claim for short-term disabilitypenefits, and then approved her
claim for long-term benefits on May 8, 2017. She inambthose benefits far two-year period from
October 2016 through October 2018, idgrthe period that defendanttdemined she was incapable
performing her job, according to the termgha policy. On May 24, 2018, the Social Security
Administration retroactivgl approved plaintiff's claim for SSChenefits, finding that she had been
disabled as of April 2016 — thetdashe had stopped working.

Defendant then contacted plaintifpeatedly in an effort to recover a portion of the benefitg
had paid her, which were being duplicated by E8Daccordance with its policy provisions.
Although plaintiff was represented bpunsel in connection with helaims for benefits, defendant
contacted her directly by phone dngletter during the summer of 20i8an effort to collect this
debt. On October 9, 2018, defendant notified pfdititat it was terminating her benefits, having
concluded that, while she haddn disabled from performinghewn job, she was capable of
performing other sedentary occupatidimeluding that of payroll mamger). Plaintiff appealed this
decision in March 2019, but the appeal wasied, resulting in this lawsuit.

Four of the five counts in plaintiff's complaifdcus on defendant’s deniaf benefits. Those
counts include four state common law claims: Count | for breach of cor@@aty 11 for breach of
fiduciary duty; Count Ill for “breach of contraftbm the breach of the duty of good faith and fair
dealing”; and Count IV for misrepresentation andnbte defraud. The fifth count, for violation of
the federal FDCPA, is the sole basis for federasgliction. As explained belg the court determines
that the plaintiff has failed to state an adequa#dan on this count. Consequently, Count V is

dismissed, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)e futhis court’s limited jurisdiction, the remaining
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counts will be remanded to the Distriburt of Wyandotte County, KansaSee Gad v. Kan. Sate
Univ., 787 F.3d 1032, 1035 (10th Cir. 2015) (pointing oat tfiederal courts are courts of limited
subject-matter jurisdiction” and “may only heases when empowered to do so by the Constitutio
and by act of Congress”).
Standard of review

On a motion to dismiss a complaint broughtsoant to Fed. R. Civ. R2(b)(6), the court
assumes all well-pled facts in the complaint are true, and permits all reasonable inferences fron
pleading. Colony Ins. Co. v. Burke, 698 F.3d 1222, 1228 (10th Cir. 2012). Legal conclusions worg
as factual allegations must be disregardéshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A complaint
“must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as taustate a claim to reli¢hat is plausible on itg
face.” Id. (citing Bell Atl. Co. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)) (internal quotation marks

omitted). Itis not necessary that the plaintitffeeth all elements of a prima facie case in the
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complaint, but factual allegations tending to demonstrate those elements “help to determine whether

Plaintiff has set forth a plausible claimkKhalik v. United Air Lines, 671 F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th Cir.
2010).
The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
Congress enacted the Fair Debt CollecticacB®ees Act in 1977 to protect consumers and
legitimate businesses by cumgiharassing, abusive and deceptive debt collection praciiaess v.
Wadas, 724 F.3d 1312, 1315 (10th Cir. 2013hnson v. Riddle, 305 F.3d 1107, 1117 (10th Cir.
2002); 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d-692f. To survive a motiotigmiss a FDCPA clai, a plaintiff must

provide “some factual allegations fmowhich the Court can infer that: 1) the plaintiff is a consumet

the defendant is a debt collector; and 3) the defienengaged in conduct prohibited by the FDCPA|
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Robinson v. ACG Processing, No. 17-2725-MSK-STV, 2018 WL 4932B62at *2 (D. Colo. Oct. 11,
2018).

A debt collector, according to the FDCPA défon, must have asstprincipal purpose the
collection of debts. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). A dwrdseeking to collect itewn debts, in its own
name, with a principal business that is sormgtlather than debt collection, does not meet the
definition of debt collector under the AcEee Aubert v. Am Gen. Fin., Inc., 137 F.3d 976, 978 (7th
Cir. 1998). Defendant here, arsurance company, was not a debtembor when, using its own namg
it attempted to recover monies from plaintifts actions, which consisdeof calling and writing to
plaintiff during the summer of 2018 in an efftotrecoup payments duplieat by the retroactive SSD
award, are not actionable under the FDCPA, because, among other reasons, defendant is not §
collector. See Cargilev. Baylor Health Care Sys., 4-1365-B, 2005 WK 2445482, at *5 (N.D. Tex.
Aug. 10, 2005) (citingAubert, 137 F.3d at 978Carlson v. Long Island Jewish Med. Ctr., 378 F. Supp.
2d 128, 131 (E.D.N.Y. 2005)).

However, the statutory deftion of debt collector also atudes “any creditor who, in the
process of collecting his own debts, uses any raher than his own which would indicate that a
third person is collecting or attempting to collsath debts.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). “The impositig
of liability in this case recognisehe fact that when a creditoressa name other than his own, the
motivation to protect the good will in his own nameabsent and the likelihood for abusive debt
collections practices returnsCarlson, 378 F. Supp. 2d at 131. The Act goes on to exclude from {
category persons collecting debts for a creditotlilof whom are related by common ownership or
affiliated by corporate control,” as long as the principal business of the creditor is something otH
debt collection. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(B). Plaintitikes additional allegations in Count V in atten

to bring defendant into this second definitional feavork. Plaintiff allegeghat that, in November
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2018 defendant “represented itself as or @mtérd with The Receivable Management Services”
(“RMS”) to collect the debt by seimdy a letter to plaintiff. (Docl-1, at f 143—-48.When plaintiff's
attorney responded to RMS, plaihnotes that they received mesponse from defendant or from
RMS. Instead, they received a response fiteenConsumer Advocacy Group which explained it wa
forwarding the correspondence to@perations Department. Plaiifitalleges further that defendant
used the RMS name in an effort to indicate tihéos” (presumably meaninmaintiff) that “a third-
party was attempting toollect its debt.”

When determining whether a creditor is hidbehind a made-up name to collect its own de
the issue is not whether the creditor and the deleatoig entity are in fact separate. The issue is
“whether, under the particular factual circumstamesent, the ‘least sosticated consumer would
have the false impression that adiparty was collecting the debtCarlson, 378 F. Supp. 2d at 131
(citing Maguire v. Citicorp Retail Servs,, Inc., 147 F.3d 232, 236 (2d Cir. 19983 also Ensminger
v. Fair Collections & Outsourcing, Inc., 16-2173-CM-GEB, 2016 WL 6905882, at *3 (D. Kan. Nov,
23, 2016). In the present case, no analysis obthjective standard is necessary, however, becaug
plaintiff makes no allegations fromhich the court could infer that defendant’s communications w
in any way confusing, or that she was, in fact, confase what entity wasyting to collect the debt.

Although plaintiff's claims maka passing reference to defendant’s alleged use of a third j
her claim focuses on the fact that defendantroanicated with her dicdly although she was
represented by counsel. (Doc. 1-1, at 1 136, 139, 140, 150, 153, 159.) Plaintiff does not alleg
that she or her attorney believed that RMS wasparate entity froohefendant; in fact, the
allegations, taken as a whole, reflect that shehanéttorney understood that RMS was affiliated w
defendant. When plaintiff's attoeg responded to RMS'’s letter, shde®that they did not hear back

from defendant or RMS. The court’s inferencat tblaintiff believed it wa defendant who sought to
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collect her debt is underscored by flact that plaintiff has not nam&MS as a party to this lawsuit.
Plaintiff's allegations do najive rise to an inference thatfdedant used another name to cause
plaintiff to believe that her debiad been turned over to a collectiagency. Insteklthe allegations
more plausibly point to the fatiat defendant had dsibns within its organization that worked to
collect these sorts of overpaymeng&e Aubert, 137 F.3d at 979 (noting that the FDCPA permits
corporate affiliates to collect debts under assumed naifesdr v. Rollins, No. 97 C 4156, 1998 WL
164890, at *4 (N.D. Illl. Mar. 30, 1998).

Although New York’s district courvent the other way in the analogdCar|son case, denying
the defendant’s motion to dismiss the FDCPA clains, iinportant to note that that ruling was decid
under the more lenient dismissal standard set for@oiey v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41 (1957), which ha
been supersededee also Sheldon v. Unum Life Ins. Co. of Am., No. 6-31, 2006 WL 1288774 (D.
Neb. May 9, 2006). A more cohergai¢ading is now required to ‘nudgais claim from conceivable
to plausible: “Where a complaint pleads facts #rat‘merely consistent witla defendant’s liability, it
‘stops short of the line between possibilitydgplausibility of entitlement to relief.”Igbal, 556 U.S. at
678 (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 557)ee also Schroeder v. Neb. Furniture Mart, 19-1131-JWB,
2019 WL 3202264, at *1 (D. Kan. July 16, 2019) fdiissing FDCPA claim whit lacked allegation
that defendant was collecting on an@att owed to someone else).

For these reasons, Count V is dismissed for failure to state a claim on which relief may b
granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). As this countjated the sole ground forighcourt’s exercise of
federal jurisdiction, this matter will be remanded to state cdthiince v. Zinke, 898 F.3d 1025, 1035

(10th Cir. 2018); 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3¥e also Gad, 787 F.3d at 1035.
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IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Hartford Life and Acident Insurance Company’s
motion to dismiss Counts Il, 1, IV and V of Shelunnell-Villines’ complaint is granted in part ang
denied in part. (Doc. 21.) The motion to dismiss Count V is hereby granted. The motion to dif
Counts Il, Il and 1V is denied. Plaintiff's comjté (Doc. 1-1), including Gunts I, II, Il and 1V, is
hereby remanded to the state caunere it was originally filed.

The Clerk of Court is directed to take the resaey steps to remand timmetter to the District

Court of Wyandotte County, Kansas.

Dated this 23rd day of JanyaR020, at Kansas City, Kansas.

g/ Carlos Murguia
CARLOSMURGUIA
United States District Judge
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